
TOWN OF AMHERST 

Planning Board  

 

October 20, 2021  APPROVED 
 

Page 1 of 22  Minutes approved: November 3, 2021 

In attendance: Dwight Brew, Bill Stoughton, Cynthia Dokmo (alternate), Chris Yates, Tom 1 

Quinn, and Tom Silvia (alternate). 2 

Staff present: Nic Strong, Community Development Director; Natasha Kypfer, Town Planner; 3 

and Kristan Patenaude, Recording Secretary (remote). 4 

 5 

Bill Stoughton, Vice Chair, called the meeting to order as Chair in Arnie Rosenblatt’s absence at 6 

7:00pm at the Town Hall and via Zoom concurrently. He explained the Board is requesting all 7 

present in-person to wear masks, as a courtesy. The Board is masked and there are extras 8 

available. 9 

 10 

Tom Silvia sat for Christy Houpis. 11 

Cynthia Dokmo sat for Arnie Rosenblatt. 12 

 13 

PUBLIC HEARINGS:  14 

1. CASE #: PZ14588-080321 – Keith E. Healey Trustee (Owner) and Healey 15 

Tree Works, LLC (Applicant) – 307 Route 101, PIN # 008-074-000 – Non-16 

Residential Site Plan Application. To show the proposed site improvements in order 17 

to use the property as a residence and for the operation of a tree services, cordwood, 18 

and wood-chipping business. Zoned Residential Rural. Continued from September 8, 19 

2021. 20 

Bill Stoughton read and opened the case. He noted that there was no need for the applicant to go 21 

into great detail on items already heard in previous meetings by the Board. 22 

 23 

Sam Foisie, Meridian Land Services and Keith Healey, owner/applicant, joined the Board.  24 

 25 

Sam Foisie explained that, after the last meeting, the Board had stated that it needed the 26 

stormwater operations and maintenance manual to review; this has since been submitted. He also 27 

noted a recommended condition of a bond for the mitigation work on the property. He noted that 28 

Mr. Healey would essentially be paying for this bond twice, has already received State approval, 29 

and is committed to doing the work. A letter received from Keach-Nordstrom contains 30 

recommendations that the applicant mostly agrees with. Item #7 of the letter addresses the 31 

building dimensions. Mr. Foisie stated that these dimensions are unclear at this time, but the 32 

square footage of the building is listed on the plans. Item #13 of the letter asked how the concrete 33 

pad will be constructed. Mr. Foisie stated that he believes this should be left up to Mr. Healey to 34 

decide, although the letter had a good recommendation of how to strengthen the edges of the pad. 35 

Item #15 of the letter asked for monitoring notes of inspections of the wetland restoration project 36 

to be sent to the Town. Mr. Foisie explained that these reports will already be sent to the State, so 37 

this appears to be a redundant request. Mr. Foisie stated that the Keach-Nordstrom letter 38 

recommends a performance bond associated with this project, which lines up with the condition 39 

expressed in the staff report. 40 

 41 

Sam Foisie addressed item #16 within the Keach-Nordstrom letter regarding the waiver request 42 

within the stormwater report which Steve Keach, PE, was reluctant to support without further 43 



TOWN OF AMHERST 

Planning Board  

 

October 20, 2021  APPROVED 
 

Page 2 of 22  Minutes approved: November 3, 2021 

information being supplied. Bullet #1 of this item asks for the applicant to use StreamStats to 44 

demonstrate that the stormwater associated with this project has no impact. Mr. Foisie explained 45 

that the surrounding watershed area is approximately 13 square miles, and that Mr. Healey's 46 

project area is only approximately 7 acres which was 0.09% of the area. The project area is 47 

minor compared to the overall watershed, which supports the original waiver request. Bullet #2 48 

of this item asks how the infiltration rate was determined. Mr. Foisie stated that percolation tests 49 

were completed on site. Bullet #3 references how the proposed stormwater system will reduce 50 

nitrogen and phosphorus rates. Mr. Foisie referenced University of New Hampshire Stormwater 51 

Management Volumes 1 and & 2 which state that an infiltration basin located 75’ from the 52 

wetlands provides the necessary treatment. 53 

 54 

Bill Stoughton described the process the Board would follow. He would open the floor to 55 

questions and comments from Board members, then for questions and comments from the 56 

public, then the public hearing would be closed and the Board would enter into deliberations. 57 

 58 

Cynthia Dokmo stated that the Zoning Board of Adjustment’s decision requested that the 59 

Planning Board, as part of its consideration of this project, discuss the hours, times, and days of 60 

operation of this business, and associated traffic and noise levels. Mr. Foisie stated that the hours 61 

of operation have been discussed in the past and are located on the plans. Mr. Healey stated that 62 

he plans for the business to be open Monday - Saturday, 7:00 AM to 3:30 PM. Most of the work 63 

will be done off the property. 64 

 65 

Tom Quinn stated that he is generally leery of letting go of landscape requirements, per the 66 

applicant’s waiver request. He stated that this area is a gateway road into Amherst, and he does 67 

not believe it would hurt to add landscape requirements to the plan. He also explained that, while 68 

this project seems to have a small impact to stormwater on a large area of land, the Planning 69 

Board needs to look at the fact that each of these projects in Town will cumulatively contribute 70 

overall either positively or negatively. 71 

 72 

In response to a question from Tom Silvia regarding why the proposed building has not yet been 73 

designed, Mr. Foisie stated that the applicant’s goal is to create a standard post and beam 74 

building to store equipment. The elevation and plans for this building have not yet been 75 

submitted because it is only intended to be a basic building and the layout of it is yet unclear. 76 

 77 

In response to a question from Tom Silvia regarding how the applicant can know the impact of 78 

the structure on the site if it has not yet been designed, Mr. Foisie stated that the structure is 79 

proposed to have a 3,200 s.f. footprint. This area has been used to model the runoff calculations. 80 

 81 

Chris Yates said he would like to be able to envision the building as designed located on the 82 

property. He asked if the applicant would consider a condition that the building not exceed 3,200 83 

s.f. Mr. Foisie stated that the applicant would be agreeable to this condition. If the building had a 84 

larger footprint, it would not line up with the stormwater calculations. 85 

 86 



TOWN OF AMHERST 

Planning Board  

 

October 20, 2021  APPROVED 
 

Page 3 of 22  Minutes approved: November 3, 2021 

Dwight Brew noted that the letter from Keach-Nordstrom was only received at the end of the day 87 

on Monday. He has thus not had proper time yet to review it. 88 

 89 

Bill Stoughton stated that the applicant is requesting three waivers. One for stormwater discharge 90 

rates, because the project will exceed the rates for the 25- and 50-year storms, per the Town's 91 

regulations. There is also a landscaping waiver and an architectural details waiver. All three of 92 

these waivers are on file. 93 

 94 

In response to a question from Dwight Brew, Mr. Foisie stated that Keach-Nordstrom reviewed 95 

the plans and provided insight in their letter as to certain changes that could be made. Mr. Foisie 96 

stated that, if the applicant had received the letter in time, a reply to it would have been issued to 97 

the Board. 98 

 99 

Bill Stoughton asked the applicant to remind the Board why a waiver is requested for 100 

landscaping. Mr. Foisie explained that the site has buffers where required. Along the roadway 101 

frontage there are vegetated tree areas, a single-family house, and then this proposed commercial 102 

area. To the east there is a wetland area that will be increased and restored, along with its buffers. 103 

To the south there is an additional wetland and vacant land. To the west is a row of trees, and 104 

then a church, which is not considered a residential use. He explained that he believes the 105 

regulations only require a buffer to a residential use. The waiver is being requested in regard to 106 

this final item, but he is willing to withdraw it if this information is seen as adequate. 107 

 108 

Bill Stoughton asked if the applicant often has customers visit his business site. Mr. Healey 109 

stated that he does not normally see customers at his business site. 110 

 111 

Bill Stoughton asked about the bonding issue. Mr. Foisie stated that he believes the applicant 112 

would need to put money into an account for the bond to be granted, and then the applicant 113 

would need to buy the materials anyway. If the project is completed, this money is returned to 114 

the applicant, but this is a cash flow issue. Tom Quinn stated that, if the bond is secured through 115 

an insurance company, the rate is likely to be $500 for $100,000/year. Mr. Foisie explained that 116 

the bond would be for erosion control and restoration. 117 

 118 

Bill Stoughton asked why the applicant objects to item #15 in the Keach-Nordstrom letter, 119 

regarding sending monitoring reports for the wetland restoration to the Town, as well as the 120 

State. Mr. Foisie stated that he does not have a hard objection to this item but believes that 121 

submitting the reports to the State is adequate. Bill Stoughton noted that the Town’s interests 122 

may not align with the State’s. 123 

 124 

Bill Stoughton asked how much the proposed project will contribute to increased flow rates 125 

compared to the current flow rate in the stream. Mr. Foisie stated that he is unclear on this exact 126 

amount. Mr. Foisie explained that the project does increase the flow rate but, because this is part 127 

of a much larger watershed area, the peak discharge rates will not line up. The site also reduces 128 

the total volume. He stated that the waiver request aligns with the State’s waiver 129 



TOWN OF AMHERST 

Planning Board  

 

October 20, 2021  APPROVED 
 

Page 4 of 22  Minutes approved: November 3, 2021 

recommendation because the discharge will go directly into a large watershed instead of into a 130 

smaller waterbody. 131 

 132 

Bill Stoughton asked if the discharge from the stormwater features on site that exceeds the 133 

current flow rate will happen close to when rainfall occurs. Sam Foisie stated this was accurate 134 

and that this would occur at approximately the 12th hour of rainfall. Bill Stoughton asked if this 135 

information was hypothetical or based on this particular application. Sam Foisie stated that he 136 

had not done an analysis on it, but common knowledge was that in a large watershed the peak 137 

discharge from a site was later. 138 

 139 

Kevin Bevis, 45 Embankment Road, stated that the proposed project is located within a close 140 

proximity to Joe English Brook. This area is very ecologically sensitive. Kevin Bevis was 141 

concerned because the applicant had already impacted wetland areas which resulted in the State 142 

requiring a restoration plan. He asked the Board to hold the applicant to the fire a bit. 143 

 144 

Jebb Curelop, former member of the Baboosic Lake Association, explained how much work has 145 

been done in cooperation with the Town and DPW to clean up Baboosic Lake over the years. He 146 

stated that he opposes this project, as it is unclear what will actually be built. Bill Stoughton 147 

noted that he believes Mr. Curelop means to be speaking to the next application. Mr. Curelop 148 

agreed and withdrew his line of commenting. 149 

 150 

Rob Clemons, Chair of the Amherst Conservation Commission (ACC) asked, on behalf of the 151 

ACC, that a copy of the wetland restoration plans, and monitoring reports be sent to the Town as 152 

well as to the State. Bill Stoughton stated that the applicant seems to agree with this item and 153 

will supply the notes to the Town as well. 154 

 155 

Bill Stoughton asked what the applicant would need to do to the stormwater design to meet the 156 

Town requirements, if the stormwater waiver request is not granted. Sam Foisie stated that the 157 

site has already been shrunken down, so, in order to meet the required flow rate, the applicant 158 

would need to stack the water up higher on the site with more fill, or spread out the water more 159 

on site, which would move it into the workable area. The applicant is trying to keep the site 160 

workable for his business. 161 

 162 

Bill Stoughton asked how the applicant would manage a reduction in square footage if the 163 

Planning Board required the stormwater features to be designed to meet the requirements. Sam 164 

Foisie stated that this would impede a decent portion of the project. The concrete pad size would 165 

be reduced. The concrete pad is how the applicant processes his firewood. The percentage of 166 

impediment is not known at this time. Sam Foisie stated that he believes the project would be 167 

approved as proposed, per State regulation 1507.06 (d) - Peak Runoff Control Requirements. 168 

 169 

Bill Stoughton closed the public hearing. 170 

 171 



TOWN OF AMHERST 

Planning Board  

 

October 20, 2021  APPROVED 
 

Page 5 of 22  Minutes approved: November 3, 2021 

Bill Stoughton noted there were several things for the Board to discuss, including any action on 172 

the waivers, the conditions of approval, bonding and whether or not to approve the 173 

application.  He asked the Board to address the waiver for landscaping first. 174 

 175 

Cynthia Dokmo stated that she is okay with this waiver because there are a lot of trees currently 176 

existing along Route 101. She noted that it would be important that these trees are healthy. 177 

 178 

Tom Quinn stated that, in looking at pictures of the site, there is not much landscaping that could 179 

be done additionally at the front of the site. There is no residential abutter to the east, and there 180 

appear to be appropriate buffers on site. 181 

 182 

Tom Silvia, Chris Yates, Dwight Brew, and Bill Stoughton all voiced their acceptance of this 183 

waiver. 184 

 185 

Chris Yates moved to grant the waiver requested to Section 5 of the Non-Residential 186 

Site Plan Review Regulations as the Board has determined that strict conformity 187 

with the requirement would pose an unnecessary hardship to the applicant and the 188 

waiver will not be contrary to the spirit and intent of the regulations. Seconded by 189 

Dwight Brew.  190 

Voting: Dwight Brew - aye, Bill Stoughton - aye, Cynthia Dokmo - aye, Tom Quinn - 191 

aye, Tom Silvia - aye, and Chris Yates – aye; motion carried unanimously. 192 

 193 

Bill Stoughton asked the Board to comment on the waiver request for architectural details of the 194 

proposed building. 195 

 196 

Cynthia Dokmo stated that she is okay with this waiver, as the Board knows the proposed 197 

footprint of the building. 198 

 199 

Tom Quinn asked if this building will be visible from the road. Mr. Foisie stated that it would not 200 

be. Mr. Quinn stated that he is okay with this waiver request. 201 

 202 

Tom Silvia and Chris Yates stated that they were okay with the waiver request. 203 

 204 

Dwight Brew stated that he was okay with this waiver request, as long as a condition is noted 205 

that 3,200 s.f. be the maximum footprint for this building. 206 

 207 

Chris Yates moved to grant the waiver requested to Section 12 of the Non-208 

Residential Site Plan Review Regulations as the Board has determined that strict 209 

conformity with the requirement would pose an unnecessary hardship to the 210 

applicant and the waiver will not be contrary to the spirit and intent of 211 

the regulations, and to include that the building will not exceed 3,200 s.f. Seconded 212 

by Dwight Brew.  213 

Voting: Dwight Brew - aye, Bill Stoughton - aye, Cynthia Dokmo - aye, Tom Quinn - 214 

aye, Tom Silvia - aye, and Chris Yates – aye; motion carried unanimously. 215 



TOWN OF AMHERST 

Planning Board  

 

October 20, 2021  APPROVED 
 

Page 6 of 22  Minutes approved: November 3, 2021 

 216 

Bill Stoughton asked the Board to comment on the waiver request for stormwater discharge 217 

rates. The project as proposed will have a discharge rate greater than the current discharge rate 218 

for the 25- and 50-year storms. 219 

 220 

Cynthia Dokmo stated that she would like to hear from the other Board members before 221 

commenting. 222 

 223 

Tom Quinn stated that he is not in favor of this waiver request. He believes that there may be 224 

some other way for the property to be utilized while properly handling these storm rates. He 225 

noted that these types of storms are becoming more frequent and is concerned that this project 226 

will spill excess flowage into nearby sensitive areas. 227 

 228 

Tom Silvia noted that there are three criteria for the Board to consider when granting a waiver: 229 

that granting the waiver will not impair achieving the spirit and intent of these regulations, that 230 

compliance with these regulations is not reasonably possible given the specific circumstances 231 

relative to the site plan, or the conditions of the land in such site plan, and that the 232 

proposed substitute solution is consistent with the goals of these regulations and is in the best 233 

interest of the Town. He does not believe that the current proposal achieves these three criteria 234 

and is thus not in favor of granting it. 235 

 236 

Chris Yates agreed with Mr. Silvia’s comments and stated that he would like to see more 237 

information on this item before making a final decision. 238 

 239 

Dwight Brew also agreed and stated that there may be a possible alternative solution that hasn't 240 

yet been mentioned. 241 

 242 

Bill Stoughton stated that the applicant may have been able to convince him that the peak 243 

discharges would be far enough apart that the discharge rates were not a problem, but there was 244 

not enough information presented for a layperson to accept. He stated that the Board has worked 245 

hard to make sure it is protecting water quality in Town, and thus he is reluctant to grant this 246 

waiver. He would like to see a more complete explanation regarding the excess flow out of the 247 

stormwater features and how they will not increase the peak flow downstream, or he would like 248 

to see changes to the design to reduce or eliminate the excess flow proposed, or a combination of 249 

the two. He noted that it is unlikely that the Board will approve the application as proposed with 250 

this waiver request. 251 

 252 

Sam Foisie asked the Board if it would rather see a more complete explanation about the excess 253 

flow, or changes to the design to reduce/eliminate this excess flow. 254 

 255 

Cynthia Dokmo stated that she would be okay with either of these options. 256 

 257 

Tom Quinn stated that he would prefer the option that complies with the Town's regulations, as 258 

outlined. 259 



TOWN OF AMHERST 

Planning Board  

 

October 20, 2021  APPROVED 
 

Page 7 of 22  Minutes approved: November 3, 2021 

 260 

Tom Silvia and Chris Yates stated that they would be okay with either option. 261 

 262 

Dwight Brew reiterated that the proposed project would be technically in violation of the 263 

regulations, but the applicant is asking the Board to look at it from a larger standpoint because of 264 

the small area of impact caused by the project. He stated that, if the applicant could show that the 265 

stormwater will not be made worse, and somehow demonstrate that, this could support the 266 

waiver request. 267 

 268 

Bill Stoughton asked the Board to comment on the bonding waiver request. 269 

 270 

Dwight Brew stated that he supports the waiver for bonding because if the work is not completed 271 

a cease-and-desist order will take care of this issue. 272 

 273 

In response to a question from Chris Yates, Mr. Foisie stated that the applicant lives at this 274 

location. Chris Yates agreed with waiving the bonding, as he believes the applicant has an 275 

interest in keeping the site up to certain standards. 276 

 277 

Tom Silvia agreed with waiving the bonding. 278 

 279 

Tom Quinn stated that he believes bonding is important, especially at this site. He believes 280 

bonding will make sure the work is done and done to Town standards. He stated that this is not a 281 

simple project, as there is associated grading, detention basins, and the proximity of the site to 282 

sensitive areas. Tom Quinn does not believe it is in the best interest of the Town to have the 283 

work not done properly and a bond may help with that. He does not believe that this will be a 284 

simple item for the Town to resolve on its own if the work is done improperly. He also noted that 285 

a bond is not very expensive. 286 

 287 

Cynthia Dokmo stated that she was okay with waiving the bonding. 288 

 289 

Bill Stoughton stated that the applicant is completing some after-the-fact restoration work to the 290 

wetland and has NH DES looking over his shoulder on this. He does not believe DES would be 291 

content with seeing an incomplete project and is thus in favor of waiving this bonding. 292 

 293 

Bill Stoughton noted that all views of Board members expressed at this meeting are subject to be 294 

revised at the next meeting. 295 

 296 

In response to a question from Tom Quinn, Bill Stoughton stated that this project will be subject 297 

to impact fees. The Board needs to decide which category this project falls into. Bill Stoughton 298 

stated he believes Industrial may be the closest match. This can be further discussed by the 299 

Board at its next meeting. 300 

 301 



TOWN OF AMHERST 

Planning Board  

 

October 20, 2021  APPROVED 
 

Page 8 of 22  Minutes approved: November 3, 2021 

Bill Stoughton encouraged the applicant to look at reducing the flow rate by cubic feet/second in 302 

a reasonable way for the next meeting and not only look at how best to achieve the waiver 303 

request for stormwater rates. 304 

 305 

Bill Stoughton noted that the Board is due to act on this application by November 12, 2021. He 306 

asked the applicant if he was willing to extend this deadline to 5 days beyond the Board's next 307 

meeting, November 17, 2021, in order to render a decision. Sam Foisie stated that the applicant 308 

agrees to extend the deadline on this application to November 22, 2021. 309 

 310 

Cynthia Dokmo moved to continue this hearing to November 17, 2021, at 7pm at 311 

Town Hall. Seconded by Chris Yates.  312 

Voting: Dwight Brew - aye, Bill Stoughton - aye, Cynthia Dokmo - aye, Tom Quinn - 313 

aye, Tom Silvia - aye, and Chris Yates – aye; motion carried unanimously. 314 

 315 

2. CASE #: PZ14590-080321 – EAM Amherst Holdings, LLC (Owners & 316 

Applicants) – 317 Route 101, PIN # 008-072-000 – Non-Residential Site Plan 317 

Application. To depict proposed site improvements to utilize the subject property 318 

for a proposed Agricultural Farming and Supply Operation. Zoned Residential 319 

Rural. Continued from September 8, 2021. 320 

Bill Stoughton read and opened the case. 321 

 322 

Chad Branon, Fieldstone Land Consultants, and Eric Mueller, owner/applicant, joined the Board. 323 

 324 

Chad Branon stated that the proposal is to develop the property into an agricultural farming 325 

operation. This property is located on the south side of Route 101, across from Saddle Hill Road. 326 

The property consists of approximately 36 acres, with approximately 642 linear feet of frontage 327 

along Route 101. A site walk of the area was completed on September 23, 2021. This is located 328 

in the Residential/Rural Zone, in which farming/agriculture is a permitted use. There is currently 329 

a single-family house located in the northwest corner of the property and that area has been 330 

improved with a shed/barn, driveways, utility connections, and septic system. There is a 331 

maintained field along the front portion of the site, jurisdictional wetlands that bisect the 332 

property flowing from west to east, and a culvert that drains under Route 101. There is also an 333 

existing access road to the southern portion of the property to a maintained field located there.  334 

 335 

Chad Branon stated that the proposal is to develop the site into Stone Farm Agricultural Farm & 336 

Supplies. This will include a 9,100 s.f. building on the southern part of the site. This building 337 

will be used for the storage of agricultural equipment, and processing/packaging of agricultural 338 

supplies, fruits, flowers, etc. It will also contain a small office for management. The proposal 339 

also includes an access road to the building, parking area, and equipment storage area. The 340 

materials storage area will only be used for operations of the site. The rear of the building will be 341 

serviced by underground electricity, an on-site septic system, and an on-site well. There will be 342 

some outdoor lighting proposed for the building. The existing house and garage toward the front 343 

of the property are not proposed to be removed. Another part of the plan is to construct a 2,500 344 



TOWN OF AMHERST 

Planning Board  

 

October 20, 2021  APPROVED 
 

Page 9 of 22  Minutes approved: November 3, 2021 

s.f. nursery and roadside stand with ten parking spaces and associated site improvements 345 

including access to the site, drainage, and lighting. The remainder of the property will be farmed 346 

with trees, vegetables, fruits, etc. 347 

 348 

Chad Branon stated that additional drainage improvements have been made to the plan since the 349 

last meeting. A rain garden area is proposed just south of the farm stand, to capture runoff from 350 

the parking lot and farm stand. This will meet Town standards for removal of nitrogen, 351 

phosphorus, and total suspended solids. The proposed drainage on the back of the site meets 352 

local and State standards as well. The site will be serviced by underground electric, which is 353 

shown on the plan. The underground electric runs from the farm stand area and within the 354 

existing driveway, so there will be no additional wetland impacts. There is a proposal to upgrade 355 

the access road that runs to the rear of the property. An email from Fire Chief Matt Conley, dated 356 

September 30, 2021, noted that the road needs to be designed to support emergency response 357 

vehicles. This road has been designed to meet these standards with H20 loading. 358 

 359 

Chad Branon stated that the final planting plan for the site has not yet been finalized; this should 360 

occur after site plan approval. The applicant will then work with UNH to conduct soil testing of 361 

the site and produce a planting plan. The applicant will likely use a licensed landscape architect. 362 

 363 

Chad Branon explained that the stormwater design for the site is focused on implementing 364 

disconnection. The site also proposes the use of a rain garden, stormwater infiltration basin, 365 

vegetated swales, and conveyance practices so that all stormwater is handled appropriately. This 366 

project does require a wetland permit through NH DES but does not necessarily require a 367 

Conditional Use Permit (CUP) because it is an allowed agricultural use. He noted that the project 368 

is likely exempt from an Alteration of Terrain permit, and that the applicant will provide 369 

documentation to the Town to support this. Chad Branon stated that the project does not propose 370 

to increase the rate of stormwater runoff and that the infiltration practices proposed address the 371 

volume of runoff on the site. Chad Branon stated that the review by Keach-Nordstrom suggested 372 

an AoT permit be acquired because the site exceeds the land alteration threshold. He explained 373 

that he will gladly provide the Town with information showing that the agricultural project is 374 

exempt from this permit. The project will require an access permit from NH DOT for a change of 375 

use to the property to access Route 101. Approval will also be needed from the State and locally  376 

for the proposed septic system. 377 

 378 

Chad Branon stated that the project will disturb 868 s.f. of wetland. There is drainage proposed 379 

at the wetland crossing to deal with water running through this area. He explained that BMPs 380 

will be implemented for agricultural and wetland items. These stabilization and erosion control 381 

practices include filter strips, grass swales, level spreaders, etc. The Town's ordinance requires 382 

the use of these BMPs. The site will provide for the minimum 25’ separation between active 383 

agricultural uses and jurisdictional wetland areas. The applicant is also proposing a mulch berm 384 

along the perimeter of the agricultural use areas in order to further define the buffer. The 385 

applicant is not proposing any tree clearing along Red Gate Lane right away and will maintain 386 

the tree line at the southern field area that extends into the woods. The primary cutting proposed 387 



TOWN OF AMHERST 

Planning Board  

 

October 20, 2021  APPROVED 
 

Page 10 of 22  Minutes approved: November 3, 2021 

to take place on site will occur on the east side of the field in order to create the proposed 388 

building and an area for harvesting/planting. 389 

 390 

Chad Branon stated that the applicant has no real objections to the Staff Report. There is no 391 

concern with bonding or the compliance hearing. He stated that members of the public have 392 

presented non-factual information about this project. There is no connection from this project to 393 

any of the applicant’s other businesses. The Ciardellis are not a party to this project and are not 394 

owners of this property. The applicant has no objections to the items listed in the Keach-395 

Nordstrom letter. There were details suggested for the plan that will be incorporated for 396 

conditional approval. The only objection the applicant has to the Staff Report is a reference to a 397 

proposed Declaration of Covenants and Restrictions. This objection comes from the proposed 398 

use being permitted, allowable by local and State regulations. Chad Branon stated that he would 399 

like this application to be held to the same standards as any other, and generally Declarations of 400 

Covenants have not been needed. He noted that the intention of some of the goals and objectives 401 

in the Town’s Master Plan are to promote agricultural and farming uses in Town. He noted that 402 

the applicant was trying to propose something that exceeds the Town's regulations, particularly 403 

with regard to stormwater management. He asked that the Board review this application on its 404 

merits. He noted that the applicant is willing to add notes to the plan regarding not cutting trees 405 

in certain areas of the property but would prefer not to be required to obtain a Declaration of 406 

Covenants and Restrictions. 407 

 408 

Bill Stoughton opened up the hearing to the Board for questions and comments. 409 

 410 

In response to a question from Tom Silvia regarding underground utilities crossing the wetlands, 411 

Chad Branon explained that the underground electrical line is shown on the plan on Sheets 4 and 412 

5. It follows the driveway all the way down, so no additional impacts are associated with the 413 

wetlands for this item. A new utility pole will be put near the front of the property. 414 

 415 

In response to a question from Tom Silvia, Chad Branon stated that the farm stand is likely to be 416 

built within 2-3 years. 417 

 418 

In response to a question from Tom Silvia, Chad Branon stated that the applicant would prefer 419 

not to pursue a Declaration of Covenants. 420 

 421 

In response to a question from Tom Silvia regarding soil testing for the property, Chad Branon 422 

stated that testing was done for stormwater on site, but not specifically for farming. He stated 423 

that the property has actively been used in the past to harvest hay. A future planting plan will 424 

include soil augmentation and testing. Approximately 8 acres of land on this site are proposed for 425 

planting but this will depend on soil testing. The applicant has not seen anything that would 426 

restrict or hinder farming on this site. Chad Branon noted that some hand augering had been 427 

done and revealed surface rocks, but he did not think there was a lot of ledge on the site. 428 

 429 

Tom Silvia noted that he is unsure about granting the waiver request for landscaping, as this 430 

property is very exposed and in a prominent visual area for the town. Chad Branon stated that the 431 



TOWN OF AMHERST 

Planning Board  

 

October 20, 2021  APPROVED 
 

Page 11 of 22  Minutes approved: November 3, 2021 

use of this property is consistent with the goals and objectives of the ordnance. Chad Branon 432 

read from the landscaping section of the ordinance, “The purpose of these standards is to protect, 433 

enhance and promote any economic, ecological and aesthetically pleasing landscaping by 434 

breaking up visual expanse and connected impervious areas, delineating areas of vehicular and 435 

pedestrian traffic to improve safety, and to enhance the gateways to Amherst. In addition, soil 436 

and landscaping play an important role in stormwater quality and quantity. These standards are 437 

intended to increase absorption and cleansing of rainfall and runoff so that the quantity and 438 

quality are more reflective of the natural hydrology where vegetation will thrive with minimal 439 

need for additional water, pesticides and fertilizers.” Chad Branon stated that he believes that, 440 

due to the layout of the project, the only section of the ordinance that applies to this property is 441 

for street trees. The regulations note there should be one street tree per 5’ of building. The 442 

applicant is willing to meet the street tree requirements and incorporate additional landscaping 443 

along the front of the property. There are significant buffers to all other surrounding properties, 444 

as previously mentioned. The farm stand will also provide a buffer to the east and there is 445 

significant vegetation along the eastern boundary of the site. Tom Silvia stated that he is not sure 446 

he feels the same way about this item as the applicant does. 447 

 448 

Chris Yates noted that the farm stand will not be built for 2-3 years. He asked when the larger 449 

storage building is proposed to be built. Eric Mueller stated that this will depend on approval for 450 

this application. He already has builders lined up. It will be built before the farm stand. 451 

 452 

Chris Yates stated that he has some concerns, as this application is being brought forth as an 453 

agricultural venue but will have a very large building constructed on the back of the property. He 454 

has questions about the size of this proposed building based on personal experience with 455 

agricultural facilities in the past. 456 

 457 

In response to a question from Chris Yates, Eric Mueller stated that he does not plan to move any 458 

of his other businesses to this site in the future. 459 

 460 

Chris Yates stated that he would support a Declaration of Covenants for this application. 461 

 462 

In response to a question from Chris Yates, Eric Mueller stated that he plans to store 463 

approximately 500 gallons of fuel at this facility. He does not currently have plans in place in 464 

case of a spill. He does not plan to store rock salt or magnesium chloride on site because his 465 

landscape business will not be conducted at this property. 466 

 467 

Dwight Brew stated that anyone who desires to build a home or business in the Town of Amherst 468 

should receive the support and encouragement of the Town as long as the Town regulations are 469 

complied with. He has never farmed and does not have the benefit of the Business Plan that 470 

EAM has for this property. If the owners feel that it is worthwhile developing this property to 471 

farm, then he will take them at their word and wish them the best of luck. Farming is a permitted 472 

use in the Residential Rural zones in Town where most other types of businesses are not 473 

permitted. While he does not expect this to be the case, he would be strongly opposed to any 474 

non-permitted uses for this property, either now or in the future. He would also strongly oppose 475 



TOWN OF AMHERST 

Planning Board  

 

October 20, 2021  APPROVED 
 

Page 12 of 22  Minutes approved: November 3, 2021 

any future variance request based on the financial difficulties of conducting a farming operation 476 

on this property. There are some very specific limitations placed on agricultural farming that he 477 

would like to see made as a condition of approval. He would also like to see that the approval 478 

letter is recorded on this property so that there can be no confusion should the property change 479 

hands. 480 

 481 

Cynthia Dokmo stated that she has concerns about the proposed size of the building. She stated 482 

that Planning Board members have asked a number of times what will be located inside the 483 

building and have received non-definitive answers from the applicant. She stated that she has 484 

heard accusations regarding salt and landscaping equipment to be stored on this property. She 485 

asked the applicant what will be processed and stored on site. She noted that this 9,100 s.f 486 

building is proposed to be built right away, but the farm stand will not be built for 2-3 years. She 487 

asked what will be done in this building in the meantime. 488 

 489 

Chad Branon stated that the applicant has answered what will be done in the building at past 490 

meetings. He stated that he cannot question the business plan of his client, as to if the proposed 491 

space is a reasonable size. He noted that he has built buildings too small in the past and believes 492 

his client is trying to avoid this happening. Chad Branon stated that the building will house 493 

equipment for the farming operation, materials such as fertilizer, office space, and an area to 494 

process and package fruits and vegetables to bring to a market until the farm stand is up and 495 

running. He explained that a snow plan is shown on the plan because it is a site plan requirement. 496 

No snow will be hauled onto the site and no landscaping operations are proposed on site. This 497 

has been stated on the record a number of times. Chad Branon stated it is unfortunate that 498 

someone trespassed onto the property and presented a non-factual narrative to the Board for 499 

public comment. He stated that the layout and design of the site have been questioned for the 500 

wrong reasons and that all of it has been proven to be correct, as presented on the plan. Chad 501 

Branon stated that the applicant may start plants growing in the storage building due to there 502 

being no greenhouse proposed on the property. This space may also be used to test plant 503 

reactions to certain soil augmentations. He reiterated that there will be only farming and 504 

agricultural uses in the building. 505 

 506 

In response to a question from Cynthia Dokmo, Eric Mueller stated that no equipment not used 507 

on the site will be stored in the building. 508 

 509 

Eric Mueller asked if the Board has issues with the proposed size of the building or what is being 510 

stored inside the building. Cynthia Dokmo stated that her concern is what will be going on inside 511 

the building. Eric Mueller stated that a pickup truck is 20’ long. If an attachment is placed on this 512 

truck it could span approximately 70’ long. There are five proposed bays in the building. One 513 

will be an office space and the other four will be used to store farming equipment. He stated that 514 

he believes if the proposed building is in compliance then the size of it should not matter. He 515 

asked if the Board would have the same concerns if the proposed building was 3,000 s.f. instead. 516 

Cynthia Dokmo explained that the proposed building is quite large and thus the Board has 517 

questions about what will be done inside it. Eric Mueller stated that he did not believe a 3,000 518 

s.f. building would be large enough. He does not want to have to construct in the area twice, if 519 



TOWN OF AMHERST 

Planning Board  

 

October 20, 2021  APPROVED 
 

Page 13 of 22  Minutes approved: November 3, 2021 

the original building was too small for his business, as that would be costly and disruptive. He 520 

believes the proposed building is large enough for his business now and into the future. He plans 521 

to use the building to get farming going on site, create produce, and then build the farm stand. 522 

 523 

Cynthia Dokmo stated that this property is very close to a fragile ecological area and thus there is 524 

concern about the size and placement of the proposed building. Eric Mueller stated that Chad 525 

Branon has done a great job with the proposed stormwater management system. As such, the 526 

proposal will not affect anything negatively. The system is overbuilt, if anything. He sees the 527 

proposal as enhancing the community. It will not impact the school system and the person he 528 

bought the property from had originally proposed 18 homes to be built in back of the property. If 529 

anything proposed is shown not to be in compliance with local and state regulations, Eric 530 

Mueller stated that he is willing to change it, but speculation of these things is only that and the 531 

Board has to base their decision on facts. 532 

 533 

Cynthia Dokmo stated that she asked these questions because she wants the applicant’s answers 534 

on record. She believes that people have concerns about property values when their homes are 535 

near a proposed building site. She also believes people love the environment and have concerns 536 

about it. She stated that it is not the Planning Board's job to pretend that accusations have not 537 

been made about this project, but it is their job to get the record straight. 538 

 539 

Tom Quinn stated that he believes farming is a great use for a number of properties in Town, 540 

including this one. He has no issue with a person's right to farm. He does have a concern that if 541 

this project does not work out in the long term, the Town will be left with a large commercial 542 

metal building, that does not look like a barn on this property. He explained that the proposed 543 

building essentially has the same footprint of the LaBelle Winery (9,600 s.f.) and is located in a 544 

residential area. He is unsure what else this building would be used for if the proposed use fails. 545 

He shares the concerns regarding the Declaration of Covenants and believes that the Board needs 546 

to think about future owners of the property. 547 

 548 

Tom Quinn asked for a specific list of the equipment to be stored in the building. Eric Mueller 549 

stated that he plans to store 2-3 tractors, wagons, tillers, harrows, a dump truck, spreaders, water 550 

tanks, etc. Tom Quinn expressed surprise at needing all this equipment for a 20-acre farm. Eric 551 

Mueller stated that he does believe all the equipment is needed and that Fitch’s Farm in Milford 552 

uses similar equipment. Tom Quinn noted that this proposed farm will not have livestock though, 553 

unlike Fitch’s Farm. Eric Mueller stated that some of the proposed attachments are large, and he 554 

would prefer to service and keep all equipment inside and out of the elements. Eric Mueller 555 

noted that any speculation about this proposed business not doing well, is simply that. He stated 556 

that this is a private piece of property and he does not believe that it would be a financial burden 557 

on Amherst if this business fails. 558 

 559 

Tom Quinn asked about the processing of food products in the building. Eric Mueller explained 560 

that he is proposing packaging, not processing. There will be no mechanical processing 561 

equipment in the building, but he will wash, clean, and package food products. 562 

 563 



TOWN OF AMHERST 

Planning Board  

 

October 20, 2021  APPROVED 
 

Page 14 of 22  Minutes approved: November 3, 2021 

In response to a question from Tom Quinn regarding the applicant utilizing 75% of the building 564 

right off the bat as previously stated, Eric Mueller stated that his intention is to build the structure 565 

and put equipment inside of it. He will also start building bins and racks for farm items. He may 566 

not be utilizing 75% of the building on day one, as this will be a process. 567 

 568 

In response to a question from Tom Quinn regarding the outdoor storage spaces, Eric Mueller 569 

stated that the asphalt proposed around the outside of the building is to help keep the area clean 570 

and to easily circumnavigate the ground around the property. The proposed asphalt area is within 571 

a moderate spec for accessing a building of this size and for emergency vehicle access. 572 

 573 

In response to a question from Tom Quinn, Chad Branon stated that approximately 3/4 of an acre 574 

around the building will be paved. This area will allow for access around the entire building, 575 

parking for employees, access for emergency vehicles, and a place for bins for materials storage 576 

for the farming operation. 577 

 578 

In response to a question from Tom Quinn regarding the 10 storage bins proposed outside, Eric 579 

Mueller stated he is not sure he will need all 10, but the bins will likely hold compost, sawdust, 580 

mulch, woodchips, and other organic materials needed for farming. 581 

 582 

Tom Quinn noted that the applicant is proposing to make approximately one acre at the back of 583 

the site impermeable and asked if all of the water from this area will be diverted to the drainage 584 

basin proposed in the northeast corner of the site. Chad Branon stated that there is a swale 585 

proposed along the whole perimeter of the paved area to capture all runoff, which will then be 586 

diverted to a basin that is sized appropriately. The spillway will be designed to meet all standards 587 

and was reviewed by Keach-Nordstrom. There was infiltration testing completed on site. 588 

 589 

In response to a question from Tom Quinn regarding other fuels to be stored on site, Eric Mueller 590 

stated that there will be an underground propane tank to store fuel to heat the building. All fuel 591 

materials will be stored in certified containers. 592 

 593 

Bill Stoughton stated that he found the abutter letters helpful in determining which questions to 594 

pose to the applicant. He stated that he believes, in looking at the plans and the applicant's 595 

experience, that this site might be better suited for a landscape business than the proposed 596 

farming/agricultural business, but he must take the applicant at his word. Bill Stoughton stated 597 

that he has a number of conditions to propose that will hopefully solidify the scope of this project 598 

now and in the future. He noted that there are two sets of BMPs for the project, one set for 599 

wetlands in agriculture and one set for agriculture. He stated that he had reviewed the BMPs and 600 

thought that some will apply to this project, and some will not. He would like the Board and 601 

applicant to both agree on which ones are applicable as a condition of approval. Bill Stoughton 602 

noted that this will allow the Code Enforcement Officer to have no questions, if he was on site, 603 

in determining which BMPs apply or not. 604 

 605 

Bill Stoughton listed the following proposed conditions precedent: 606 



TOWN OF AMHERST 

Planning Board  

 

October 20, 2021  APPROVED 
 

Page 15 of 22  Minutes approved: November 3, 2021 

1. Planning Board approval is contingent on the applicant securing any and all 607 

required certifications and permits from the NH Department of Health and Human 608 

Service and the NH Department of Agriculture, including but not limited to, all 609 

required food processing and food sale certifications and permits. 610 

2. The Notice of Decision shall be recorded by the Community Development 611 

Office at the Hillsborough County Registry of Deeds at Applicant’s expense. 612 

 613 

Bill Stoughton noted that he sees value in a Declaration of Covenants, even if precedent 614 

condition #2 is acceptable to the Board.  615 

 616 

Conditions Subsequent 617 

1. The permitted use of this property pursuant to this application shall be only for  618 

(a) agricultural farming; (b) the sale of produce, plants, flowers, and trees grown 619 

on the farm; and (c) the sale of products from other locations at the farm stand, 620 

provided at least 35% of the farm stand product sales in dollar volume is 621 

attributable to products produced on the farm or farms of the stand owner. Use of 622 

this property for the conduct of any non-agricultural business, including but not 623 

limited to a landscaping or storage business, or for the sale of “farm supplies” 624 

different from or in excess of the permitted uses above, is expressly not permitted. 625 

Such uses do not qualify as agricultural. This shall not preclude the growing and 626 

sale of plants and trees that may be used in a landscaping business. 627 

2. No materials or equipment associated with any other current or future non-628 

agricultural businesses shall be stored at the property unless otherwise approved 629 

by the Planning Board and, if necessary, by the Zoning Board of Adjustment. As 630 

non-exclusive examples, landscaping and storage are non-agricultural businesses. 631 

3. All non-invasive trees within 20 feet of the property boundary along Red Gate 632 

Lane shall be retained as a visual buffer. 633 

4. All applicable Best Management Wetlands Practices for Agriculture (2019 and 634 

as may be subsequently amended) shall be followed, except to the extent state 635 

permits may require a more restrictive practice, in which case the state permit 636 

requirements shall be observed. Applicant shall prepare and submit to the 637 

Community Development Office for Planning Board approval a listing of BMPs it 638 

considers applicable and those it considers to be non-applicable prior to the 639 

commencement of construction. The listing of applicable and non-applicable 640 

BMPs shall be revised and resubmitted for approval upon any substantive change 641 

to the BMPs or to the agricultural activities conducted on the property. 642 

5. All applicable Best Management Practices for Agriculture (2017 and as may be  643 

subsequently amended) shall be followed, except to the extent state permits may 644 

require a more restrictive practice, in which case the state permit requirements 645 

shall be observed. Applicant shall prepare and submit to the Community 646 

Development Office for Planning Board approval a listing of BMPs it considers 647 

applicable and those it considers to be non-applicable prior to the commencement 648 

of construction. The listing of applicable and non-applicable BMPs shall be 649 



TOWN OF AMHERST 

Planning Board  

 

October 20, 2021  APPROVED 
 

Page 16 of 22  Minutes approved: November 3, 2021 

revised and resubmitted for approval upon any substantive change to the BMPs or 650 

to the agricultural activities conducted on the property. 651 

6. Applicant shall install markers delineating wetland buffer boundaries. 652 

 653 

Bill Stoughton stated that he believes landscaping is important to this application. He believes 654 

this section of Route 101 should remain the gateway to Amherst. The existing buildings along 655 

this road support the road as a residential and farming gateway to Town. Chad Branon stated that 656 

he believes the applicant is on the same page. Street trees will be left along the frontage. The use 657 

and proposal in front of the Board are consistent with the goals and objectives. Bill Stoughton 658 

stated that this bears Board discussion. 659 

 660 

Bill Stoughton again noted that letters from the public are part of the record and have helped him 661 

to determine the right questions to ask. He stated that they do not get read aloud. He asked for 662 

public comment at this time. 663 

 664 

Terry Robinson, 333 State Route 101, stated that he farms elsewhere in Amherst and came to the 665 

meeting to hear the farming concept. He is also a member of the New Hampshire Beef Producers 666 

Association and the New Hampshire Farm Bureau. He has similar equipment to that discussed 667 

by the applicant and is shocked by the size of the proposed building. He farms a larger piece of 668 

land than what is being proposed by this project and does not have a building of that size. He 669 

noted that the applicant mentioned storing vegetables on site and asked about the refrigerating 670 

component for this item. He noted that, without refrigerating, the only vegetable that may be able 671 

to be stored would be potatoes. He explained that he has seen other farming businesses with huge 672 

tractors and equipment that still are not stored in a building that size. He noted that sawdust is 673 

stored inside, not outside, a building. He explained that if he was beginning a farming business, 674 

the first thing he would do is go to UNH for soil testing, in order to determine what the soil on 675 

the land can produce before moving forward. He had hoped to hear more of a conversation about 676 

the farming aspect of this project. 677 

 678 

Susan Lebel, 45 Embankment Road, stated that she recently checked the Registry of Deeds and 679 

found no transfer of title for this property from the Ciardelli's. The only change she found was 680 

that EAM Amherst Holdings, LLC, owned by the Ciardelli's, made Eric Mueller the manager. 681 

She asked if the Ciardellis are somehow still involved in this business. She noted that EAM 682 

Amherst Holdings, LLC, has a farm stand already in Peterborough and asked why this business 683 

is not being run out of that location. She explained that the property line for Red Gate Lane runs 684 

down the western stone wall of the road. She does not believe this property belongs to the 685 

applicant, and thus his offer to not cut trees on that land is “generous.” She explained that, as 686 

mentioned at the August 4, 2021, meeting by the applicant, she knew the former owner of this 687 

property, Charlie Odell. Mr. Odell had a little garden at the front of the site but never farmed, 688 

sold vegetables, or blueberries from the site. She also asked about the applicant’s ability to 689 

refrigerate vegetables for storage and how they would be sanitized. She explained that sanitizing 690 

vegetables could use chemicals that may go into the wastewater. She asked where this 691 

wastewater would be discharged to and its implications on groundwater. She noted that this area 692 

contains a wildlife corridor often ranked as one of the highest in the State. She asked how 693 



TOWN OF AMHERST 

Planning Board  

 

October 20, 2021  APPROVED 
 

Page 17 of 22  Minutes approved: November 3, 2021 

contaminated water could cause issues to this area. Susan Lebel noted that this area has had two 694 

100-year floods in the past 15 years. If the stormwater management system is only designed for 695 

the 50-year storm, she asked where the excess water will go during larger storms. She questioned 696 

there not being a greenhouse proposed on the property and asked how the applicant can start 697 

seeds without one. She asked how the business will be profitable. She noted that an alternative 698 

may be the 1,280 s.f. garage that already exists at the front of the property. This could be used in 699 

the meantime, while testing the soils, before a larger building is built. 700 

 701 

Kevin Bevis, 45 Embankment Road, stated that he is offended at the applicant’s representative 702 

saying that he trespassed on this land. He stated that the Board asked many good questions but 703 

never heard what will actually be going on in the proposed building. He does not believe this will 704 

ever be known. Kevin Bevis also stated that there is an existing building located at the front of 705 

the property that could be utilized. He stated that he would rather the applicant answer questions 706 

from the Board, instead of the applicant’s representative. 707 

 708 

Jebb Curelop, 23 Jebb Road Merrimack, NH, stated that he served on the Baboosic Lake 709 

Association for several years. While he heard the Board discuss agricultural and wetland BMP's, 710 

he did not hear discussion of BMPs for stormwater. He does not believe a rain garden should be 711 

utilized on site, but instead a BMP. He would like to know more specifically what will be done 712 

inside the large building. He questioned that there is not a greenhouse proposed on site and that 713 

the applicant did not submit a business plan. He believes this will be a large upfront investment 714 

with no revenue for at least 2-3 years. He appreciates the comments and work from the Planning 715 

Board. 716 

 717 

Joanne Dumas, abutter across Red Gate Lane, stated that she has lived at her property for 30 718 

years. She also knew Mr. Odell and stated that he never hayed the fields or sold produce. She 719 

suggested that farms are usually seen at the front of the property, in order to advertise for 720 

business and farming done in the back of the property. 721 

 722 

Bill Stoughton stated that as there was no other public comment at that time, that the public 723 

hearing portion of the application be closed. 724 

 725 

Bill Stoughton asked the Board to comment on the waiver request for the landscaping plan. 726 

 727 

Tom Silvia stated that he still has unanswered questions on this item and thought the 728 

conversation on this project should continue. 729 

 730 

Chris Yates stated that he believes there needs to be good landscaping upfront, as this is along a 731 

gateway into Town. He would like to see this incorporated into the plan. 732 

 733 

Dwight Brew did not have further comments at this time. 734 

 735 

Cynthia Dokmo stated that, as long as trees will exist along the front of the site, she is okay with 736 

this waiver. 737 



TOWN OF AMHERST 

Planning Board  

 

October 20, 2021  APPROVED 
 

Page 18 of 22  Minutes approved: November 3, 2021 

 738 

Tom Quinn stated that he is in favor of additional landscaping on the site. 739 

 740 

Chad Branon noted that the applicant typically has the opportunity to touch on concerns raised 741 

by abutters and that he also did not have a previous opportunity to address the conditions 742 

proposed by Bill Stoughton. Bill Stoughton stated that he did give the applicant a chance to 743 

address these, and Chad Branon stated that Bill Stoughton did not allow him a chance to discuss 744 

the conditions with his client. Bill Stoughton asked that Chad Branon be brief in his comments 745 

and noted that the Board is able to sort out public comments, so Chad Branon did not have to 746 

counter every single point previously made. 747 

 748 

Chad Branon stated that the applicant is okay with all of the conditions outlined, except for the 749 

formal Declaration of Covenants , and noted that the proposed conditions clearly address the 750 

concerns anyway. He stated that the plan, as designed, meets all regulations and that this is 751 

supported by the Staff Report and Keach-Nordstrom's letter. He stated that the applicant will 752 

secure all necessary permits. 753 

 754 

Bill Stoughton again asked for public comment. 755 

 756 

Joanne Dumas, 333 Route 101, stated that she would like for there to be an agricultural business 757 

at this site. She would like the Board to impose restrictions to make sure that happens. She noted 758 

that the Amherst Garden Center, located just down the road, does everything the applicant is 759 

proposing to do with a small amount of equipment and space. 760 

 761 

With no further public comment, Bill Stoughton again closed the public hearing portion of the 762 

application. 763 

 764 

Bill Stoughton stated that the Board is bound to follow the regulations and ordinances and not 765 

substitute their judgment for that of the applicant’s or abutter’s. He stated that agricultural uses 766 

have a lot of latitude and, while it is unclear if this agricultural business will thrive or fail, it is 767 

not the Board's job to say if the proposed business decisions are good or bad. He believes with 768 

the conditions noted in the Staff Report and his additional conditions proposed this evening, this 769 

application does comply with the ordinance as approved, and the regulations adopted by the 770 

Town. 771 

 772 

Tom Silvia stated that he believes the stipulations are important. He asked who will do the work 773 

and farming on this property, but also noted that if the application meets all requirements the 774 

owner should be able to do what is proposed whether it makes business sense or not. 775 

 776 

Chris Yates stated that he struggles with this application, but with the proposed stipulations it 777 

might be okay. He supports agricultural uses in Town. He believes if more information was 778 

provided regarding soil testing and the farming approach, people may have been more at ease 779 

with the proposal. 780 

 781 



TOWN OF AMHERST 

Planning Board  

 

October 20, 2021  APPROVED 
 

Page 19 of 22  Minutes approved: November 3, 2021 

Dwight Brew stated that the Board must base its decision on facts and the associated ordinances. 782 

While this property is approved for agricultural uses, he has concerns as to what Plan B would be 783 

for the property if Plan A fails. He would oppose converting this property to a different use, only 784 

due to economic hardship of the owner. He supports the conditions proposed by Bill Stoughton, 785 

including recording the approval letter on the deed. He believes this could be as binding as a 786 

Declaration of Covenants. 787 

 788 

In response to a question from Dwight Brew, Bill Stoughton stated that one of his conditions 789 

requires BMP's to be prepared and submitted to the Planning Board for approval prior to 790 

construction. 791 

 792 

Cynthia Dokmo stated that she would approve this application with all conditions proposed by 793 

Bill Stoughton and present in the Staff Report, but also believes that the project needs a formal 794 

Declaration of Covenants. 795 

 796 

Tom Quinn stated that he believes the Declaration of Covenants would be better legally then 797 

recording the approval letter. He believes the issue with this proposal is that it is to be located in 798 

a residential area. He is okay with approving the building size, if it is justified, but it will be 799 

located in a residential area, so he would assume it will become something else for a future 800 

owner. He also does not believe the size has been justified. He believes it would be a mistake for 801 

the Board to approve the proposed structure in a residential area if everyone is not comfortable 802 

with the footprint being justified. 803 

 804 

Bill Stoughton asked the Board to comment on needing a Declaration of Covenants versus 805 

recording the approval letter. 806 

 807 

Tom Silvia and Chris Yates stated that they need more information to understand these options. 808 

 809 

Dwight Brew stated that he does not object to a Declaration of Covenants but believes this item 810 

could be satisfied with recording the approval. 811 

 812 

Bill Stoughton echoed Dwight Brew’s comments. 813 

 814 

Bill Stoughton asked the Board to comment on the waiver of a formal landscaping plan. 815 

 816 

Tom Quinn stated that he would like to see a formal landscaping plan. 817 

 818 

Cynthia Dokmo, Dwight Brew, Chris Yates, and Tom Silvia, all stated that they would not find a 819 

formal landscaping plan necessary, with Chris Yates noting that the landscaping can be 820 

incorporated into the current drawings. 821 

 822 

Bill Stoughton noted that if a Declaration of Covenants is a required, it will need to be reviewed 823 

by the Planning Board and Town Counsel. He asked the applicant if he would like to continue 824 

this hearing or for the Board to act on it tonight. He noted that the Board's deadline to act on this 825 



TOWN OF AMHERST 

Planning Board  

 

October 20, 2021  APPROVED 
 

Page 20 of 22  Minutes approved: November 3, 2021 

item is November 12, 2021. He noted that two Board members appear to want a Declaration of 826 

Covenants, two would be comfortable with the approval letter being noted in the deed with all 827 

associated conditions, and two want more information on the options. 828 

 829 

In response to a question from Eric Mueller, Bill Stoughton stated it is unclear as to what the 830 

legal differences are between a Declaration of Covenants and recording the conditions of 831 

approval. Eric Mueller asked how the Board could vote on an item it does not have clarity on. 832 

Bill Stoughton stated that there will be no harm to the Town in requiring a Declaration of 833 

Covenants. He agreed that, while it is not typically done, it would be hard for him to say as an 834 

elected official that there should not be a Declaration of Covenants that runs with the land. 835 

 836 

Chad Branon asked for a continuance so that the applicant may consult with the project attorney, 837 

as the project attorney previously felt the Declaration of Covenants would not be legally 838 

necessary as agriculture is a permitted use in the zone and the applicant is willing to accept other 839 

conditions proposed by the Board. 840 

 841 

Bill Stoughton noted that the Board comments do not seem to favor an approval without a 842 

Declaration of Covenants tonight, and that the vote for this item is unclear for the next meeting, 843 

as there are many Board members absent tonight. 844 

 845 

Chad Branon agreed to extend the 65-day deadline for decision for this application to November 846 

22, 2021, contingent on this hearing being continued to November 17, 2021. 847 

 848 

Dwight Brew moved to continue this application to November 17, 2021, at 7pm at 849 

Town Hall. Seconded by Chris Yates. 850 

Voting: Dwight Brew - aye, Bill Stoughton - aye, Cynthia Dokmo - aye, Tom Quinn - 851 

aye, Tom Silvia - aye, and Chris Yates – aye; motion carried unanimously. 852 

 853 

Bill Stoughton stated that the Board now needs to have a discussion about the differences 854 

between a Declaration of Covenants or recording the conditions of approval letter. 855 

 856 

In response to a question from Dwight Brew regarding sharing the proposed conditions made 857 

tonight with the applicant, Bill Stoughton stated that he would send these conditions to the 858 

Recording Secretary and Nic Strong. If appropriate, these can be incorporated into the next Staff 859 

Report for this item or placed as an addendum to it. 860 

 861 

In response to a question from Eric Mueller, Bill Stoughton stated that the Board and applicant 862 

will each need to consult their own legal counsel regarding the differences between a Declaration 863 

of Covenants and a Notice of Decision being recorded. 864 

 865 

OTHER BUSINESS: 866 

3. REGIONAL IMPACT: 867 

a. CASE # PZ14920-101321 - Clearview Subdivision (Owner & 868 

Applicant); Boston Post Road, PIN #: 005-159-001 & 38 New Boston Road, 869 



TOWN OF AMHERST 

Planning Board  

 

October 20, 2021  APPROVED 
 

Page 21 of 22  Minutes approved: November 3, 2021 

PIN #: 007-072-000 – Subdivision Application. To depict the design of a 43-unit 870 

Planned Residential Housing Development and WWCD CUP known as Prew 871 

Purchase Condominium on Tax Map 7, Lot 72 & Tax Map 5, Lot 159-1. 872 

Zoned Residential/Rural. 873 

 874 

Bill Stoughton noted that the Board previously acted on an Integrated Innovative Housing 875 

Ordinance (IIHO) CUP for this property and is now set to hear the subdivision application. The 876 

Board previously voted regional impact to Mont Vernon on the IIHO CUP. 877 

 878 

Dwight Brew moved that there is regional impact to Mont Vernon with respect to 879 

this application. Seconded by Tom Quinn. 880 

Voting: Dwight Brew - aye, Bill Stoughton - aye, Cynthia Dokmo - aye, Tom Quinn - 881 

aye, Tom Silvia - aye, and Chris Yates – aye; motion carried unanimously. 882 

 883 

b. CASE #PZ14921-101321 - EIP One Bon Terrain (Owner & Applicant); 884 

1 Bon Terrain Drive, PIN #: 002-026-004 – Non-Residential Site 885 

Plan Application. To show the improvements necessary to permit and construct 886 

a 30,000 square foot building addition to the existing facility for the purposes 887 

and use of warehousing product, with associated truck parking yard and 888 

other ancillary improvements. Zoned Industrial.  889 

 890 

Bill Stoughton noted that the Board previously acted on a CUP for this property and found it to 891 

have regional impact on Nashua, Merrimack, Hollis, and Milford. 892 

 893 

Dwight Brew moved that there is regional impact to Nashua, Merrimack, Hollis, 894 

and Milford with respect to this application. Seconded by Chris Yates. 895 

Voting: Dwight Brew - aye, Bill Stoughton - aye, Cynthia Dokmo - aye, Tom Quinn - 896 

aye, Tom Silvia - aye, and Chris Yates – aye; motion carried unanimously. 897 

 898 

c. CASE #PZ14922-101321 – David & Laura Wang (Owners) & 899 

Bennett Chandler (Applicant); 4 Gatchel Way, PIN #: 005-059-021 –900 

Conditional Use Permit Application. To add a 998 square foot apartment within 901 

the footprint of a 40’x42’ pool house and garage already permitted for 902 

construction under PO13151-092220. Zoned Residential/Rural. 903 

 904 

Dwight Brew moved that there is no regional impact with respect to this application. 905 

Seconded by Tom Quinn. 906 

Voting: Dwight Brew - aye, Bill Stoughton - aye, Cynthia Dokmo - aye, Tom Quinn - 907 

aye, Tom Silvia - aye, and Chris Yates – aye; motion carried unanimously. 908 

 909 

4. Letter dated October 7, 2021, from SAU 39, re: Nonconforming Sign at High School 910 

It was noted that there was no one present from the school district to present this item. 911 

 912 



TOWN OF AMHERST 

Planning Board  

 

October 20, 2021  APPROVED 
 

Page 22 of 22  Minutes approved: November 3, 2021 

Bill Stoughton stated that the schools are not subject to Town ordinances or regulations. They 913 

must still comply with State laws. The Board has no say in this matter; the schools submitted this 914 

letter for informational purposes only. 915 

 916 

Bill Stoughton stated that, without knowing more, he is disappointed when Town entities do not 917 

follow the same rules as their citizens. 918 

 919 

Chris Yates agreed that he would have liked to have more description about this project. He has 920 

concerns about an electronic sign with residences located nearby. He believes there is pride in 921 

this community in regard to less lighting allowing for more natural spaces. He also thought that 922 

Town entities should follow the same rules. 923 

 924 

In response to a question from Dwight Brew regarding the Town not allowing electronic signs 925 

elsewhere, Bill Stoughton stated that he believes there are limited commercial areas that can 926 

have a sign displaying the time and temperature only. 927 

 928 

Dwight Brew stated that, with no additional information provided, he will be interested to see if 929 

this project can be tastefully done. 930 

 931 

Tom Quinn stated that he is bothered by this proposal. He understands the State law but believes 932 

that Town entities should comply with Town ordinances, unless it is absolutely not possible to do 933 

so. He believes Amherst needs to get better at this. He has heard concerns regarding a recent 934 

expansion and renovation project at the DPW not coming in front of the Planning Board. 935 

 936 

Cynthia Dokmo stated that she would have liked to see someone from the school district come in 937 

to present this proposal and receive input from the Board. 938 

 939 

5. Minutes: October 6, 2021 940 

Tom Silvia moved to approve the meeting minutes of October 6, 2021, as presented. 941 

Seconded by Chris Yates. 942 

Voting: Dwight Brew - aye, Bill Stoughton - aye, Cynthia Dokmo - aye, Tom Quinn - 943 

aye, Tom Silvia - aye, and Chris Yates – aye; motion carried unanimously. 944 

 945 

The next Board meeting will be held at the Souhegan High School on November 3, 2021. There 946 

will also be a non-public meeting on Thursday, October 28, 2021, at 4:30 PM. 947 

 948 

Cynthia Dokmo moved to adjourn the meeting at 10:01 pm. Tom Quinn seconded. 949 

Voting: Dwight Brew - aye, Bill Stoughton - aye, Cynthia Dokmo - aye, Tom Quinn - 950 

aye, Tom Silvia - aye, and Chris Yates – aye; motion carried unanimously. 951 

 952 

Respectfully submitted, 953 

Kristan Patenaude 954 

Minutes approved: November 3, 2021 955 


